1961

William K. Howard et al v. Mildred M. Howard et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is prosecuted to set aside a Warranty Deed given by the grantor during his lifetime to the grantee in which deed the description was not a perfect one but

which appellant contends was sufficient to convey the property intended. Appellant prayed for judgment reforming the description to give effect to the deed.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE BY LOWER COURT

The lower court adjudged the deed to be of no force or effect and ruled that the property intended to be conveyed remained in the grantor, and denied the prayer of appellant to have the deed reformed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

That the deed be adjudged good and valid and that title to the property therein described be decreed that of the grantee, or if such judgment is not directed then that the case be remanded to the lower court for trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents herein are children of L. W. Howard, who died intestate in Salt Lake County, Utah, on November 30th, 1955, born of a deceased first wife of said L. W. Howard. Appellant is the surviving widow of said L. W. Howard, the mother of two children by L. W. Howard. During his lifetime, L. W. Howard held title to a tract of land in Holladay, Salt Lake County, Utah from which he and appellant herein conveyed three par-

cels designated on map appended hereto, which parcels are therein designated as Tracts "A", "B", and "C".

On May 9th, 1945, L. W. Howard drafted in his own hand, a warranty deed naming his wife, appellant herein, as grantee, which deed describes the property as follows:

Com at a point 2.07 ch, W. & S. 52°30'E.5.24 ch from Northeast cor. of Northwest ¼ of sec 10 T 2 S R. 1 E S.L.B. & M and running thence N 56° E 3.55 ch. thence S 39° E 6.15 ch thence S 47° W 5.88 ch thence S 54°15'W 214.25 ft. thence N 46° 25'W 404 ft more or less to a point which is South 55°30' W455 ft. thence S 46°25'E 154 ft. thence S43°35'West 160 ft. more or less from beginning
 Less roads
 Less Temple & Woods
 Less Theatre
 Containing 2.75 acres more or less

The deed was delivered to appellant with instructions to place the same of record in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah, upon the death of L. W. Howard. Appellant did on December 1st, 1955, record said deed in the office of the County Recorder and the same was recorded in Book 1263, page 45 of the county records (R. 43).

On May 13, 1947 the said L. W. Howard made another deed naming his wife, the appellant herein, as grantee, describing a tract shown on the appended map as Tract "D." This deed was also delivered by said L. W. Howard to appellant during the lifetime of L. W. Howard and appellant recorded this deed in the office of the

County Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah, on December 1st, 1955. The description contained in this deed is a good and sufficient description. (R. 4).

Appellant claims title to the properties covered by each of said deeds by virtue of the grant therein contained. Respondents instituted these proceedings in the lower court praying that the court decree that the deeds from L. W. Howard to appellant are null and void and of no effect and that the property described in each of said deeds be decree that of L. W. Howard at the time of his death (R. 1-8). Appellant answered the complaint of respondents and also filed her cross-complaint as against Walker Bank & Trust Company as administrator of the estate of L. W. Howard, deceased, and against respondents, praying that the deed bearing date May 9th, 1945 be revised so as to express the true intent and meaning of L. W. Howard, and that appellant be adjudged and decree the owner in fee simple of the land described by said deeds. (R. 16-20)

The case was called for pre-trial at which the lower court held the deed bearing date May 9th, 1945 defective and that it conveyed no property, and entered its judgment from which this appeal is taken. (R. 45) Appellant filed timely objections to the judgment, also a motion to assign the case for trial, a motion to amend her cross-complaint, and a motion for New Trial, all of which were denied by the lower court. (R. 44) (R. 48)

The single question is whether that deed, dated May 9th, 1945, which the trial court held to be defective, con-

tained such description that the land might be identified which was intended to be conveyed and therefore did convey the property. And whether the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to assign the case for trial and to permit appellant to amend her cross-complaint.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

1.

THE DEED BEARING DATE MAY 9th, 1945 CONTAINS SUCH DESCRIPTION THAT THE INTENT OF THE GRANTOR IS CLEARLY EXPRESSED.

2.

THE FALSE STATEMENT IN THE DESCRIPTION WILL NOT DEFEAT THE GRANT.

3.

THE DEED CONTAINS A DESCRIPTION WHICH A SURVEYOR COULD USE TO LOCATE THE PARCEL INTENDED TO BE CONVEYED, ON THE GROUND.

4.

AN OMISSION OF PART OF A BOUNDARY OR CALL IS NOT FATAL TO THE VALIDITY OF A DEED WHERE SUCH BOUNDARIES OR CALLS CAN BE SUPPLIED OR THE DESCRIPTION RENDERED CERTAIN.

5.

IF THE DESCRIPTION MAY BE HELPED BY EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE, THEN APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A TRIAL AND AN OPPORTUNITY TO PRODUCE EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DEED BEARING DATE MAY 9th, 1945 CONTAINS SUCH DESCRIPTION THAT THE INTENT OF THE GRANTOR IS CLEARLY EXPRESSED.

By the description as contained in the deed, the grantor definitely established the point of beginning by tying to "the Northeast corner of Northwest $\frac{1}{4}$ of sec. 10 T 2S r. 1 E S.L.B.&M"; he then describes the next four courses exactly as are described in the deed by which he received title, then it is clearly shown that he intended to cut off the west jog and to follow a line on a course N.46°25'W being the same course as described in the deed by which grantor took title after going around the piece protruding on the west. Grantor describes this west line with particularity a distance of 404 feet more or less and it is shown by a portion of that which then follows that the grantor was intending to arrive at the Northeast corner of his property; true he does go off on another angle but the distance he refers to is 455 feet which is the distance from grantor's northeast corner as given in the deed by which he took title and the place of beginning, then grantor goes southeasterly using the same variation as his northwest line of 46°25'West the same distance of 154 feet, then he follows approximately the north line of the tract which it is evident he intended to omit, the same distance which that north line carries. It is further evident that when the grantor inserted the

words "beginning" he thought he had described to the place of beginning.

POINT II.

THE FALSE STATEMENT IN THE DESCRIPTION WILL NOT DEFEAT THE GRANT.

The last calls locate nothing nor do they change the westerly line which the grantor specifically defined and which line did follow the true course. Those calls are surplusage and may be disregarded.

In 2 Devlin on Deeds, Third Ed. Vol. 2, at section 1013a we find the law stated as follows:

"If the land conveyed can be identified by the other calls of the description an impossible or *senseless course* will not be considered," citing

Brose v. Boise City, R.R. 5 Idaho 695.
and at section 1035 we find the following:

"If a description is otherwise complete and accurate, a false statement in it will not defeat the grant."

In Thompson on Real Property, Perm. Ed. Vol. 6, Formal Parts of Deeds at Section 3274, page 445 we find the following:

"Rejection of false or erroneous description. After an accurate description, an inaccurate description following which is merely cumulative will be rejected. Thus, where the deed contains two descriptions, one of which describes the land with

reasonable certainty, and the other is incorrect in some particulars, the incorrect particular will be rejected as surplusage. Where the land is sufficiently described for the purpose of identification after eliminating an incorrect part of the description, the deed is read as if such description were eliminated and effect is given to the remaining part of the description.”

Citing *Vaughn v. Continental Royalty Co.*, 116 Fed. (2d) 72;

Hanlon v. Western Loan, 46 Cal. App. (2d) 580, 116 P. (2d) 465;

Mizell v. Osmon, 324 Mo. 321, 189 SW 2d 306;

State v. Franco-American Soc. (Tex.) 172 SW 2d 731;

Copeland v. Carpenter, 206 Ga. 822, 59 SE 2d 245;

DeLong v. Starkey, 120 Ind. App. 288, 92 NE 2d 228.

In 2 Devlin on Deeds, Third Ed., Vol. 2, at section 1012, p. 1916 it is said:

“What is a sufficient description. A deed is not void for uncertainty because there may be errors or an inconsistency in some of the particulars. If a surveyor, by applying the rules of surveying can locate the land, the description is sufficient and the deed will be sustained. And generally, the rule may be stated to be that the deed will be sustained if it is possible from the whole description to ascertain and identify the land intended to be conveyed.”

“As that is certain which can be made certain, the description if it will enable a person of ordinary prudence acting in good faith and making inquiries which the description would suggest to him, to identify the land is sufficient.”

Citing Ford, S.D. 124 NW 1108.

Hayes v. Martin, 144 Ala. 532, 40 So. 204.

In Thompson on Real Property above cited, Section 3271 Pocket Supp. at page 60 it is said:

“When the description in a deed is erroneous, that which is intended to be conveyed, rather than that which is described, is conveyed. A subsequent erroneous addition will not be permitted to limit or impair what has been definitely described in the deed.” (Italics added.)

Citing U.S. v. Big Bend Transit, 42 Fed. Supp. 459;

Bruni v. Viduarri, 140 Tex. 138, 166 SW 2d 81.

POINT III.

THE DEED CONTAINS A DESCRIPTION WHICH A SURVEYOR COULD USE TO LOCATE THE PARCEL INTENDED TO BE CONVEYED, ON THE GROUND.

By the affidavit attached to appellant's motion for New Trial it is stated that appellant was prepared to offer the testimony of C.C. Bush of the engineering firm of Bush & Gudgell to the effect that he could locate the land on the ground from the description contained in the deed. By the court's granting judgment on the pleadings the appellant was not afforded the opportunity to introduce such evidence.

The granting of judgment on the pleadings without a trial of this case is, we contend, no more favored by our courts than are Summary Judgments, this because litigants are prevented from fully presenting their case to the court. Such was the holding in *Brandt v. Springville Bank*, 10U 2d 350, 353 P2d 460 in which the court said:

“For the reason that a summary judgment prevents litigants from fully presenting their case to the court, courts are, and should be, reluctant to invoke this remedy.”

And in *Morris v. Farnsworth Motel*, 123 U. 289, 259 P2d 297 our court said:

“The party against whom the summary judgment is granted is entitled to the benefit of having the court consider all of the facts presented.”

That statement of law followed the ruling of our court in *R. J. Dawn Const. Co., v. Child*, 122 U. 194, 247 P2d 817.

The same rule of law applies in this case where judgment has been granted on pleadings. Applicant has a defense to the action and she pleaded it.

The rule if a surveyor, by applying the rules of surveying can locate the land, the description is sufficient and the deed will be sustained is announced in 2 Devlin on Deeds, Third Ed., Vol. 2, Section 1012 at page 1916, which rule is also followed in *Blume v. MacGregor*, (Cal.) 148 P2d at 661, *Best v. Wohlford*, 144 Cal. 733, 78 Pac. 293; *Thompson v. McKenna*, 22 Cal. App. 129, 132, 133 P. 512, and 16 Am. Jur. Deeds, Sec. 263, p. 586.

In the *Blume v. MacGregor* case we find the following statement at page 661.

“In general if a competent surveyor can take the deed and locate the land on the ground from the description contained therein, with or without the aid of extrinsic evidence, the description will be held to be sufficient.”

In *Harrison v. Everett*, 308 P2d 216, citing *Wheeler Perry Co. v. Mortgage Bond Co. (Ariz.)* 17 P2d 331 involving question of priority of lien of mortgage as against judgment where debtors had filed Homestead Declaration describing therein Lots 13 and 14, Mount Pleasant tract and omitting the Block No. 4 from the description, as a result the judgment creditor contended that because of the erroneous description the declaration was ineffectual, the court said:

“A description of the property is essential to a valid declaration of homestead but the description need not be more particular than is required in the case of a deed.” Then follows citation of many of the authorities heretofore referred to. The court going on further said: “It will be seen from the foregoing that the description of the land as embodied in the declaration was sufficient to afford a means of identification and therefore fulfills the requirements of a particular description.”

POINT IV.

AN OMISSION OF PART OF A BOUNDARY OR CALL IS NOT FATAL TO THE VALIDITY OF A DEED WHERE SUCH BOUNDARIES OR CALLS CAN BE SUPPLIED OR THE DESCRIPTION RENDERED CERTAIN.

The intention of the parties is to be ascertained by considering all the provisions of the deed, as well as the situation of the parties, and then to give effect to such intention if practical, when not contrary to law. 2 Devlin on Deeds, Third Ed. Vol. 2, section 836, p. 1508.

In *Holleys Ext. v. Curry*, 58 W. Va. 70, 51 SE 135, 112 Am. St. Rep. 944, and in 18 CJ 180, 181, 26 CJS Deeds, Sec. 30 and 100, pp 210 and 357, and in *Sanders v. Baker*, 231 SW 2d 106 (Ark.) it is said that the office of a description in a deed is not to identify the land but to furnish means of identification.

This rule is also announced in *Thompson on Real Property* (Perm. Ed.) Vol. 6, Pocket Supp. Sec. 3268.

Section 1013d, 2 Devlin further says :

“The principal purpose of the construction is to ascertain the true intent of the language and when that intent has been ascertained, it should be allowed to have paramount force and great liberality is always exercised in constructing that part of the deed in which the property conveyed is described and the description will be sufficient if it supplies the means for identifying the land to be conveyed.”

And in 26 CJS, Secs. 30 and 100, pp 210 and 357 the law is stated as follows :

“A deed will not be held void for uncertainty of description if by any reasonable construction it can be made available.”

In Devlin at section 1013 it is further said :

“Where the description is uncertain, reference may be made to prior deeds conveying the same land.”

The deed by which L. W. Howard took title may be referred to.

POINT V.

IF THE DESCRIPTION MAY BE HELPED BY EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE, THEN APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A TRIAL AND AN OPPORTUNITY TO PRODUCE EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE.

We find Tiffany on Real Property, Third Ed., section 997 reads as follows :

“With the exception of the broad principals that a conveyance will not be declared void for insufficiency in its description of the property which it purports to convey if it is possible by any reasonable rule of construction, *aided by extrinsic evidence*, to identify the property intended, it is impossible to give any general rules by which to determine whether in the case of any particular conveyance the description is sufficiently operative. The court will, if possible, *with the aid of evidence introduced for the purpose*, find a particular piece of land which the description serves to differentiate from other land.” (Italics added.)

In Devlin it is said that the fourth side of a rectangle may be supplied where the intent of the parties is clear, and the grantee has entered into possession. Respondents will probably contend that our description is not that of a rectangle, this we concede but our description is more

than a rectangle and all the more shows the intent of the grantor, he having specifically followed the variances and distances to the closing line.

Devlin also states at section 1013b:

“A description is sufficient where there is but one line to find to locate the land as the land conveyed may be identified by extrinsic evidence.”

In the instant case there is but one line to find, that is the closing line.

And at Section 1031a Devlin states:

“If a deed omits one of the calls in the field notes, yet if, by the description given and reversing the calls in the field notes, the missing call can be supplied, and the land to be conveyed ascertained, the deed is not void for uncertainty.” Citing *Montgomery v. Carlton*, 56 Tex. 431.

In *Deal v. Cooper*, 94 Mo. 62, 6 SW 707 the court held that if it appears there is an obvious omission in the description but the deed affords sufficient data to supply the omission, the defect will be cured by construction.

And this Court in *Losee v. Jones*, 120 U. 385, 235 P2d 132 at page 137 in speaking of an omission said:

“Appellants next raise the contention that the deed from the mother to Elenora Jones Bingham is void by reason of an erroneous description whereby the calls fail to close. In their brief they quote from Patton on Titles, Sec. 74, p. 265, as follows:

“Either as actually described or construed, the lines themselves must be continuous, one commencing where the other leaves off, and the final line returning to the point of beginning. Otherwise, they do not inclose, and therefore do not describe any tract of land.”

“This may be due to omission of one of the lines from the description or to a mis-description of one of the lines. To a certain extent, however, this situation has been overcome by the fact that the courts will supply the line by intendment when by so doing the boundaries will be complete and will close approximately the acreage called for in the description. Also, a manifest error in the calls may be corrected even to the extent of reversing the direction of a line. Even when the lines are continuous, they may fail to enclose any tract of land owing to failure of the final line to return to the starting point. Unless the description as stated, or as it may be allowably construed, can be made to close, the grant must fail.”

“In the construction of boundaries, we again find that the intention of the parties is the controlling consideration. *Machado v. Title, Guaranty & Trust Co.*, 15 Cal. 2d 180, 99 P. 2d 245; *Park v. Wilkinson*, 21 Utah 279, 60 P. 945. In the present case, we believe the Elenora Jones Bingham deed capable of such construction as to form an enclosure in accordance with the intent expressed therein. The deed fixes a definite and clear point of beginning, continues by courses and distances to the last corner, and then concludes: “* * * thence east 2.5 chains more or less to the place of beginning.”

“As stated by this court in the case of *Park v. Wilkinson*, 21 Utah 279, 60 P. 945, 946: ‘The

words used in the deed should be construed so as to ascertain the intention of the parties making it, and when the intention of the parties can be ascertained therefrom, nothing remains to effectuate that intention.'

"But when there are no natural monuments or lines called for by which the closing line is to be fixed or ascertained, and no line on the ground, it follows, of necessity, that the survey is to be closed by a direct line between the termini of the lines on the ground, or as fixed by the courses and distances returned to ascertain those termini."

It is conceded that in the Losee case while the description as given did not close it recited "to the place of beginning." However we contend the principal of law as laid down by said case is applicable inasmuch as the court in the Losee case refers to *Ransberry v. Broadhead*, a Pennsylvania case, 174 Atl. 97 which was a case to test title to part of a stream and land adjoining, the description of the property did not close and one of the defenses set up was defective description in that it failed to close. In quoting from the case we find the following:

"Appellant urges that the description in the Stites' deed will not close. The court said the course, the metes and bounds must be considered, they should be followed and, if possible, made to close, but as indicated in *Wharton v. Carvin*, 34 Pa. 340, 342, where there are no natural or artificial monuments by which to close the line, it follows of necessity that the survey should be closed by direct line between the termini of the line established on the ground. That is what was done in the case and we see no error in it."

From *Wharton v. Garvin*, 34 Pa. 340, cited in above case we quote the following:

“Generally a survey is to be carried to its calls, unless there are actual lines on the ground excluding them. In that case the lines on the ground will control the calls, for they constitute the survey. *But when there are no natural monuments or lines called for, by which the closing line is to be fixed and ascertained, and no line on the ground, it follows of necessity, that the survey is to be closed by a direct line between the termini of the lines on the ground, or as fixed by the courses and distances returned, to ascertain these termini.* It was ascertained in this case, that the north and south boundaries, by their courses and distances, did not reach the river by the number of rods already stated. And if we are to discard the river as a call, then the west boundary must necessarily be closed by a straight line from point to point of the side lines. There is no other process by which it may be done.” (Italics added.)

The above wording is adopted by the Utah court in *Park v. Wilkinson*, *supra*.

An interesting case in point where there is neither call for the last course or the words, “to beginning,” is that of *Blume v. MacGregor*, (Cal.) 148 P2d 656 in which we find the court stating at page 660:

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