1961

# William K. Howard et al v. Mildred M. Howard et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON BY RESPONDENTS

### POINT 1.

DECEDENT INTENDED TO DO WHAT HE DID DO,  
TO-WIT: DELIBERATELY EXECUTE A VOID DEED.

### POINT 2.

IF DECEDENT INTENDED TO EXECUTE A DEED IT  
WAS WITH TESTAMENTARY INTENT AND WAS NOT IN-  
TENDED AS A PRESENT CONVEYANCE OF A PRESENT  
INTEREST.

### POINT 3.

SAID DEED, AS A TESTAMENTARY DISPOSITION OF  
ESTATE, IS NOT SUSCEPTIBLE TO REFORMATION.

### POINT 4.

INTENT TO MAKE A GIFT IS NOT SUFFICIENT IF  
THE GIFT IS NOT ACTUALLY CONSUMMATED DURING  
THE LIFETIME OF THE DONOR.

### POINT 5.

EQUITY WILL NOT REFORM A GIFT DEED WHEN TO  
DO SO WILL CAUSE GROSS INJUSTICE SUCH AS DIS-  
INHERITING THE NATURAL HEIRS OF THE DONOR.

### POINT 6.

THE DEED IS VOID BECAUSE IT DOES NOT CLOSE  
AND SHOWS NO INTENT TO CLOSE BECAUSE IT DOES  
NOT GO BACK TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

### POINT 7.

THE DEED IS ALSO FATALY DEFECTIVE IN THAT  
IT CONTAINS AN IRRECONCILABLE AMBIGUITY.

### POINT 8.

EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE MAY NOT BE RESORTED TO  
TO REFORM A DEED CONTAINING A PATENT DEFECT  
UNLESS SOMETHING IN THE DEED FURNISHES THE  
KEY TO RESOLVING THE AMBIGUITY.



## POINT 9.

ATTEMPTED CONVEYANCE OF A SPECIFIC PORTION OF A LARGER TRACT IS VOID FOR UNCERTAINTY IF THE PORTION IS NOT SPECIFICALLY DEFINED.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT 1.

DECEDENT INTENDED TO DO WHAT HE DID DO, TO-WIT: DELIBERATELY EXECUTE A VOID DEED.

Lucas William Howard, the grantor in the deed which is the subject of this action, is not with us to clarify his intent. His intent can only be determined from what he did. The appellant blithely determines this "intent" to suit herself. Throughout her brief there are many statements such as "it is clearly shown that he intended," "the grantor was intending," "it is evident he intended," "he thought he had," etc. An analysis of the instrument does not show any such intention as appellant claims.

It is the firm belief of respondents that their father intended to do exactly what he did do, viz., make a void deed. Why would he do this? Simply to satisfy his wife and lead her to believe that she had succeeded in obtaining her husband's entire estate, or virtually all of it, thereby depriving her step-children of any share in their father's estate. The decedent did what he did in order that he might have a little peace at home during his declining years. With the knowledge that the deed was void he could keep his wife satisfied and yet feel assured that his children, the issue of his "first love" would partici-



pate, at least to an extent, in his estate. His wife, the step-mother of respondents, had already extracted from him, by means of joint tenancy, a fortune vastly in excess of anything she would require during her remaining lifetime. Had it been the decedent's intent to give her all, that could likewise have been readily accomplished by placing the property in question likewise in joint tenancy. But that he did not do. He was able, by executing a deed, knowingly incomplete, to both satisfy his wife and assure something over for his children.

That this was his intent is further evidenced by the fact that two years after executing this deed, he, apparently having in mind the invalidity of this deed, made another deed to his wife, specifically describing the home, the property thus later conveyed being a portion of the tract partially described in the first deed.

## POINT 2.

IF DECEDENT INTENDED TO EXECUTE A DEED IT WAS WITH TESTAMENTARY INTENT AND WAS NOT INTENDED AS A PRESENT CONVEYANCE OF A PRESENT INTEREST.

That the purported deed was in reality intended as a testamentary disposition and not as a present gift of a present interest is evidence by Appellant's Brief. On page 3 of her brief appellant states: "The deed was delivered to appellant with instructions to place the same of record in the office of the County Recorder of Salt Lake County, Utah, upon the death of L .W. Howard." L. W. Howard, the grantor, died Nov. 30, 1955. (App.

Brief pg 2) The deed was recorded next day, Dec. 1, 1955. (App. Brief pg. 3.)

That said deed was intended to be testamentary only, and was not intended to convey a present interest at the time of execution, is further evidenced by the fact that on May 13, 1947, the decedent made another deed to his wife, describing a portion of the property described in the first (testamentary) deed which was already in existence. (See App. Brief, pgs 3-4.) If the first deed was intended to be other than testamentary, why did he execute the second deed?

The question of law here involved has already been ruled upon by the Utah Supreme Court in *Stanley v. Stanley*, 94 P2 465, 97 U 250, the syllabus of which reads as follows:

“In quiet title action involving question whether testator had delivered deed to widow *with intent to presently pass title*, evidence sustained trial court’s finding that deed had not been delivered with such intent even if widow had been permitted to testify as to the manual delivery of the deed.”

### POINT 3.

SAID DEED, AS A TESTAMENTARY DISPOSITION OF ESTATE, IS NOT SUSCEPTIBLE TO REFORMATION.

Page on Wills, Lifetime Edition, Vol. 1, Chap. 8, page 333, Sec. 167 cites the rule:

“Where the will as drawn and executed varies from testators instructions and actual wishes, disappointed legatees and devisees have frequently invoked the jurisdiction of equity to grant reformation, or some relief analagous thereto. *Equity has regularly refused to grant reformation.*” (Emphasis added.)

Numerous cases, from 16 states, are cited in support of this rule, including new cases cited in the pocket parts.

Continuing, in the same section, discussing the matters which equity will not reform, Page, on page 335, states further:

“For some or all of these reasons equity will not grant reformation in case of misdescription of realty devised, (note 7) or an omission of part of the realty which testator meant to devise. (note 8).”

Further:

“It has been said that a court of equity has no jurisdiction to reform a will and that if such a court enters a decree of reformation, such decree may be attacked collaterally (note 12).”

#### POINT 4.

**INTENT TO MAKE A GIFT IS NOT SUFFICIENT IF THE GIFT IS NOT ACTUALLY CONSUMMATED DURING THE LIFETIME OF THE DONOR.**

C.J.S. cites the following rule on gifts:

“To be effective, a gift must go into immediate and present effect. A mere intention to make a gift, however clearly expressed, which has not

been carried into effect amounts to nothing, and confers no rights in the subject matter of the proposed gift on the intended donee." 38 CJS 793.

Further:

"In any event, a delivery to be sufficient to support a gift must be absolute and unqualified; it must transfer possession to the donee, and vest in him a present and irrevocable title; it must vest the donee with and divest the donor of control and dominion over the property." 38 CJS 798.

That the gift to respondents' step-mother was not consummated is evidenced by appellant's request to the court to reform the deed. No title-examiner would pass a title resting on an ambiguous deed, containing a description which did not purport to close. Regardless of decedent's intent the fact remains that he did not make a valid conveyance, sufficient to pass title, without reformation of the deed.

The court could be certain as to the intent of the grantor, and yet if the grantor did not carry that intent into effect the court would be powerless to consummate the gift.

"Intent alone is not sufficient to create rights, but the intent must be carried into effect by acts which are legally sufficient to accomplish the intended purpose." *Strout v. Burgess*, 112 ALR2 939, 144 Me. 263, 68 A2 241.

#### POINT 5.

EQUITY WILL NOT REFORM A GIFT DEED WHEN TO DO SO WILL CAUSE GROSS INJUSTICE SUCH AS DIS-INHERITING THE NATURAL HEIRS OF THE DONOR.

On page 21 of her brief appellant cites two cases as authority for the statement that equity will reform a description in favor of a donee in a deed of gift. This is the rule only in exceptional cases, but it is not the general rule. These two cases will be later discussed, but first let us set forth the general rule. It is stated by A.L.R. as follows:

“Courts will not reform purely voluntary conveyances.” 69 A.L.R. 419.

In *Lytle v. Hulén*, 128 Ore. 483, 275 P.45, 114 ALR 596 the court quotes with approval, the rule as set forth in Story's Equity Jurisprudence. The court said:

“The rule is stated in 2 Story's Equity Jurisprudence (14th Edn) Sec. 982, thus: ‘The right to correct and reform a written instrument executed by mistake or fraud is one that attaches primarily to conveyances to which the injured party stands as a bona fide purchaser for value and does not apply, as a general rule, where the conveyance is the evidence of the bounty of the grantor, and a mere gratuity as to the grantee. The grantor, if living, could not be compelled to correct the deed; and in the absence of consent of all the parties equity will not grant the relief.’”

This case has been cited with approval in the following later cases: 3 P2 773, 35 P2 250; 40 P2 1015; 73 F2 570; 93 F2 788; 22 S2 226; 12 SE2 210; 6 SE2 26; 29 SE2 674; 56 SE2 342.

Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence, Third Edition, Vol. 6, page 1144, Sec. 679 sets forth the rule:

“No relief will be awarded to a grantee in an imperfect conveyance which is not supported by either a valuable or meritorious consideration against either the grantor or his representatives.”

This is supported by quotations from sixteen cases. The reason for the rule, and the justice of the rule is explained by Pomeroy in Vol. 2 of Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence, Third Edition, Sec. 588, page 958, as follows:

“All agreements, so far as the binding efficacy of their promises is concerned, must be referred to one or the other of three causes, — a valuable consideration, a mere voluntary bounty, or the performance of a moral duty. The first alone is binding at law, and enables the promisee to enforce the obligation against the promisor. *The second, while the promise is executory, is a mere nullity, both at law and equity.* The third constitutes the meritorious or imperfect consideration of equity and is recognized as effective by it within very narrow limits, although not at all by the law.”

It will be observed that the gift to the appellant falls in the second classification, which Pomeroy calls “A mere nullity, both at law and equity.

Tiffany, Third Edition, Vol. 4, page 80, declares the rule to be:

“According to the weight of authority it (reformation) will not be given as against the heirs or devisees of a deceased donor by reason of the failure of the language of the conveyance to express the donor's probable intention.”

Ten cases are cited in support of this rule. It would unduly increase this already large brief if the various cases establishing this rule were individually quoted from and discussed. The justice of the rule is obvious. Where the authorities unanimously state the general rule analysis of the individual cases is only cumulative. It is, however in order, for respondent to comment on the two cases cited by appellant.

Appellant first cites the case of *Hazlitt v. Bryan*, 192 Tenn. 251, 241 SW2 121. In this case the court merely discusses the matter of jurisdiction of the equity court and does not give enough facts from which the rights of the litigants might be ascertained, but it does quote with approval, and as authority for its ruling, *Dowding v. Dowding*, 152 Neb. 61, 40 NW2 245, as follows:

“If there is equity in plaintiff’s case as against the rights asserted by the defendants a reformation should be decreed. *If plaintiff’s case is lacking in the elements that go to move the conscience of a court of equity, relief should be denied on that ground*, but not for want of jurisdiction in the court because of the voluntary nature of the conveyance.”

Obviously the Dowding case came under the third classification outlined by Pomeroy hereinabove, “the performance of a moral duty,” and likely, if the facts were known, the Hazlitt case would also fall into that classification.



Let us briefly refer to the equities in this case. If defendant prevails she will receive from the estate of Lucas W. Howard not only all of the joint tenancy property, which was a fortune in itself, including a bank account in excess of \$15,000.00, and not only the statutory one-third which the Utah law considers to be her rightful share of the estate. In addition to these she will receive, for herself, alone, to the exclusion of the children, a tract appraised at \$84,000.00 all of which was owned by decedent long prior to his marriage to appellant. The inventory in the estate lists assets in the sum of \$117,690.00 exclusive of joint tenancy property. Of this \$117,690.00 the appellant claims as her own all but \$17,060.00.

(a) If the deed is reformed appellant will receive this \$100,000.00, plus one third of the remainder, and the balance, if there is any balance at all after paying from this remainder, the taxes, costs of administration, etc., will be divided among the children.

(b) If the deed is rejected as invalid appellant will receive, in addition to the joint tenancy property, one-third of the whole estate, and the children will divide the balance.

Does this justify equity in using its extraordinary powers to make a gift, where it is not even clear that a gift was intended?

The other case cited by appellant, *Launderville v. Mero*, Montana, 281 Pac. 749, 69 A.L.R. 416. ALR, in reporting this case, at page 427 shows that this case is contrary to the general rule, which is stated as follows:

“The weight of authority supports the view that the grantee is not entitled to a reformation of a voluntary conveyance made without any consideration, as against the heirs of the grantor after the latter’s death.”

Particularly is this the case where the grantee is also an heir. Page 428 of 69 A.L.R. states:

“According to the weight of authority, equity will not reform a voluntary conveyance not supported by any consideration, at the suit of the grantee, who is an heir of the grantor, as against the other heirs of the deceased grantor.”

It is not considered helpful here to further prolong this brief by quoting the cases relied upon and cited by A.L.R. There are exceptions to this rule, as in the case cited by defendant at 69 A.L.R. 416 (*Launderville v. Mero*, *supra*) *where the other heirs are provided for, and where the deed to be reformed is one of a group or series*; but that is not the case in the action now before the court, and equity and justice combine to demand that the general rule be followed and the children be allowed to inherit their rightful estate.

Because appellant seeks to lend weight to the Launderville case, by tying it to the footnotes of the Utah code, brief mention of that case is in order. In the Launderville case the grantor deeded all of his lands to his three daughters. All went into possession of their respective tracts. The grantor testified “he didn’t have an acre to his name,” after the conveyances were made. After his

death it was discovered that *one* of the deeds was defective. The court properly amended it to give effect to the series of deeds, and to do equity between the sisters. With that law, as it applied to that case, respondent's have no quarrel. It is another of the type of cases referred to by Pomeroy, where there is "a moral duty." No such equities exist in the case now before the court.

#### POINT 6.

THE DEED IS VOID BECAUSE IT DOES NOT CLOSE AND SHOWS NO INTENT TO CLOSE BECAUSE IT DOES NOT GO BACK TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

#### POINT 7.

THE DEED IS ALSO FATALLY DEFECTIVE IN THAT IT CONTAINS AN IRRECONCILABLE AMBIGUITY.

Points 6 and 7 both pertain to the description in the deed. In order to avoid duplication it is deemed advisable to discuss both together, and at the same time to point out the weaknesses of appellants arguments in the five points relied upon by her, all of which pertain to the description in the deed.

To make out a valid description appellant would have the court discard entirely three courses, as "superfluous," extend another course to reach the "intended" corner, and then supply a course entirely missing, to bring the description back to the starting point and make it enclose something. This is an effort to create something out of nothing. There are many cases in the records

where the courts have supplied a missing part, or corrected an incorrect course or distance; but nowhere, at any time, have the courts so completely reconstructed an instrument as appellants now ask.

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